








THE BOARD OF EDUCATION FOR 
THE CITY OF SAVANNAH AND THE COUNTY 
OF CHATHAM, GEORGIA 

COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENT 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2010 

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page
INTRODUCTORY SECTION 

Letter of Transmittal ..........................................................................................................................................       A-1 

List of Principal Officials ....................................................................................................................................       A-7 

Organizational Chart .........................................................................................................................................       A-8 

ASBO Certificate of Excellence in Financial Reporting .....................................................................................       A-9 

GFOA Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting ..........................................................     A-10 

FINANCIAL SECTION 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ............................................................................................................       B-1 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (MD&A - Required Supplementary Information)   ..............       C-1 

BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS: 

 DISTRICT-WIDE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS: 
  Statement of Net Assets .........................................................................................................................       D-1 
  Statement of Activities ............................................................................................................................       D-2 

 FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS: 

  Governmental Funds: 
   Balance Sheet ........................................................................................................................................       D-3 
   Reconciliation of Total Governmental Fund Balances to Net Assets of Governmental Activities ...........       D-4 
   Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances ...............................................       D-5 
   Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances  
     of Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities ..........................................................................       D-6 

  Proprietary Funds (Internal Service): 
   Statement of Net Assets .........................................................................................................................      D-7 
   Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Assets ............................................................      D-8
   Statement of Cash Flows .......................................................................................................................      D-9 

  Fiduciary Funds (Agency): 
   Statement of Fiduciary Assets and Liabilities .........................................................................................     D-10 

 NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ....................................................................................    D-11 

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION OTHER THAN MD&A: 
  Description .................................................................................................................................................       E-1 
  Budgetary Comparison Schedule - General Fund .....................................................................................       E-2 
  Notes to Required Supplementary Information on Budgetary Accounting and Control ..............................       E-3



THE BOARD OF EDUCATION FOR 
THE CITY OF SAVANNAH AND THE COUNTY 
OF CHATHAM, GEORGIA 

COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENT 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2010 

TABLE OF CONTENTS

SUPPLEMENTARY DATA - Combining Fund Financial Statements and Schedules: 
Page

 NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS: 

  Description .................................................................................................................................................       F-1 

  Combining Balance Sheet - Nonmajor Governmental Funds .................................................................       F-2  
  Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances - Nonmajor  
    Governmental Funds ............................................................................................................................       F-4 

  Budgetary Comparison Schedules - Nonmajor Governmental Funds: 
   Special Revenue Funds: 
    High School Athletics ..........................................................................................................................       F-6 
    Middle School Athletics .......................................................................................................................       F-7 
    Special Programs ...............................................................................................................................       F-8 
    Psychological Education .....................................................................................................................       F-9 
    Title I ...................................................................................................................................................     F-10 
    Title VIB ..............................................................................................................................................     F-11 
    School Food Service ...........................................................................................................................     F-12 
   Debt Service Fund ..................................................................................................................................     F-13 

 INTERNAL SERVICE FUNDS: 

  Description .................................................................................................................................................     F-14 
  Combining Statement of Net Assets ..........................................................................................................     F-15 
  Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Assets ....................................     F-16 
  Combining Statement of Cash Flows .........................................................................................................     F-17 

FIDUCIARY FUNDS: 

  Description .................................................................................................................................................     F-18 
  Combining Statement of Fiduciary Assets and Liabilities - Agency Funds .................................................     F-19 
  Combining Statement of Changes in Assets and Liabilities - Agency Funds .............................................     F-20

SUPPLEMENTAL SCHEDULES: 

  Description .................................................................................................................................................     F-21 
  Schedule of Allotments and Expenditures - By Program General Fund - Quality Basic Education  
    Programs .................................................................................................................................................     F-22 
  Schedule of Approved Local Option Sales Tax Projects ............................................................................     F-23 



THE BOARD OF EDUCATION FOR 
THE CITY OF SAVANNAH AND THE COUNTY 
OF CHATHAM, GEORGIA 

COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENT 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2010 

TABLE OF CONTENTS

STATISTICAL SECTION 
Page

Description .......................................................................................................................................................       G-1 

Net Assets – Last Nine Fiscal Years ................................................................................................................       G-2  
   
Changes in Net Assets – Last Nine Fiscal Years .............................................................................................       G-3 

Fund Balance of Governmental Funds – Last Ten Fiscal Years ......................................................................       G-5 

Changes in Fund Balances, Governmental Funds 
  Last Ten Fiscal Years ....................................................................................................................................       G-6 

Assessed Value and Estimated Actual Value of Taxable Property 
  Last Ten Fiscal Years ....................................................................................................................................       G-8 

Property Tax Rates – Direct and Overlapping Governments 
  Last Ten Fiscal Years ....................................................................................................................................     G-10 

Principal Property Taxpayers 
  Current Year and Period Nine Years Prior .....................................................................................................     G-12  

Property Tax Levies and Collections - General Fund 
  Last Ten Fiscal Years ....................................................................................................................................     G-13  

Property Tax Levies and Collections – Debt Service Fund 
  Last Ten Fiscal Years ....................................................................................................................................     G-14  

Ratios of Outstanding Debt by Type 
  Last Ten Fiscal Years ....................................................................................................................................     G-15 

Ratios of General Bonded Debt Outstanding 
  Last Ten Fiscal Years ....................................................................................................................................     G-16 

Direct and Overlapping Governmental Activities Debt 
  As of June 30, 2010 .......................................................................................................................................     G-17 

Legal Debt Margin Information – Last Ten Fiscal Years ..................................................................................     G-18 

Demographic and Economic Statistics – Last Ten Fiscal Years ......................................................................     G-20 

Primary Employers – Current year and Nine Years Ago ..................................................................................     G-21 

Full-time Equivalent Government Employees by Function – Last Ten Years ...................................................     G-22

Operating Statistics – Last Ten Fiscal Years ...................................................................................................     G-23 

Teacher Data – Last Ten Fiscal Years ..............................................................................................................    G-24    



THE BOARD OF EDUCATION FOR 
THE CITY OF SAVANNAH AND THE COUNTY 
OF CHATHAM, GEORGIA 

COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENT 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2010 

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page

Teachers’ Salary Schedule – Last Ten Years ................................................................................................       G-25 

School Enrollment – Last Ten Fiscal Years ...................................................................................................       G-26  
   
School Buildings and Other Facilities as of June 30, 2010 ............................................................................       G-28 

































B-1

Independent Auditors' Report

To the Board of Public Education 
of the City of Savannah and the County of Chatham, Georgia 
Savannah, Georgia 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, 
each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Board of Public 
Education of the City of Savannah and the County of Chatham, Georgia, (the “District”), 
as of and for the year ended June 30, 2010, which collectively comprise the District’s 
basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.  These financial statements 
are the responsibility of the District's management.  Our responsibility is to express 
opinions on these financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in 
Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United 
States.  Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement.  An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the 
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.  An audit also includes assessing 
the accounting principles used and the significant estimates made by management, as 
well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.  We believe that our 
audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinions. 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material 
respects, the respective financial position of the governmental activities, each major 
fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Board of Public Education of 
the City of Savannah and the County of Chatham, Georgia, as of June 30, 2010, and 
the respective changes in financial position thereof for the year then ended in conformity 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report 
dated December 20, 2010, on our consideration of the District's internal control over 
financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, 
regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters.  The purpose of that 
report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting 
and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the 
internal control over financial reporting or on compliance.  That report is an integral part 
of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards and important 
for assessing the results of our audit. 
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The Board of Public Education 
of the City of Savannah and the County of Chatham, Georgia 
Page Two 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that 
the management’s discussion and analysis and budgetary comparison information on 
pages C-1 through C-11 and page E-2 be presented to supplement the basic financial 
statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is 
required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an 
essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an 
appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited 
procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing 
standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of 
inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing 
the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic 
financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic 
financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the 
information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to 
express an opinion or provide any assurance. 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements 
that collectively comprise the District’s basic financial statements.  The introductory 
section, combining and individual nonmajor fund financial statements and schedules, 
and statistical section are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a 
required part of the basic financial statements.  The combining and individual nonmajor 
fund financial statements and schedules are the responsibility of management and were 
derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to 
prepare the financial statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing 
procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and certain additional 
procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the 
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements or to 
the financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance 
with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America.  In our 
opinion, the information is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the financial 
statements taken as a whole.  The introductory and statistical sections have not been 
subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial 
statements and, accordingly, we express no opinion or provide any assurance on it.

Certified Public Accountants 

December 20, 2010 



























Governmental 
Activities 

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 41,132,546$
Receivables 68,757,582
Inventories 230,819
Other current assets 180,983
Note receivable 3,000,000
Bond issuance costs 491,928
Restricted cash and investments 111,573,040
Capital assets: 

Land, improvements, and construction in progress 59,892,461
Other capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation 310,760,739

       Total assets 596,020,098

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and contracts payable 4,228,502
Accrued interest 1,649,109
Unearned revenue 112,603
Salaries and benefits payable 45,028,827
Other liabilities 1,040,710
Payable from restricted assets- accounts and contracts payable 11,179,911

THE BOARD OF EDUCATION FOR THE CITY OF SAVANNAH
AND THE COUNTY OF CHATHAM, GEORGIA 
STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS
JUNE 30, 2010 

y p y
Noncurrent liabilities: 

Due within one year 15,403,556
Due in more than one year 76,538,526

       Total liabilities 155,181,744

NET ASSETS
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt 284,503,074
Restricted for: 
  Debt Service 2,456,634
  Capital projects 106,307,080
  Grant Programs 431,508
Unrestricted 47,140,058

       Total net assets 440,838,354$

e Notes to the Basic Financial Statements are an Integral Part of this Statement. D - 1



NET (EXPENSE)
REVENUE AND CHANGES

PROGRAM REVENUES IN NET ASSETS 
OPERATING CAPITAL TOTAL

CHARGES FOR GRANTS AND GRANTS AND GOVERNMENTAL
EXPENSES SERVICES CONTRIBUTIONS CONTRIBUTIONS ACTIVITIES

Functions/Programs
  Governmental activities:
    Instruction 222,310,198$    376,779$          122,730,917$          862,886$                (98,339,616)$                      
  Support services:
    Pupil services 18,199,906 229,970            4,027,038                (13,942,898)
    Instructional services 11,627,828 8,690,633                9,115                      (2,928,080)
    Educational media services 5,387,071 2,861,654                (2,525,417)
    General administration 5,743,800 1,345,833                (4,397,967)
    School administration 18,928,219 5,867,640                (13,060,579)
    Business administration 4,381,881 5,933                       (4,375,948)
    Maintenance and operations 24,439,791 6,757,762                60,839                    (17,621,190)
    Pupil transportation 18,073,427 3,054,893                (15,018,534)
    Central support services 3,804,847 3,934,317                676,421                  805,891
    Other support services 2,030,823 351,908                   (1,678,915)
Food services 15,380,794 2,398,804         13,083,170              25,159 126,339
Interest on long-term debt 4,028,945 (4,028,945)

Total governmental activities 354,337,530$    3,005,553$       172,711,698$          1,634,420$             (176,985,859)

General revenues:
  Taxes:
    Property taxes, levied for general purposes 160,692,756
    Special purpose sales taxes for capital projects 57,230,414
  Grants and contributions not restricted to specific programs 1,137,659
  Unrestricted investment earnings 424,073
  Miscellaneous 84,742
      Total general revenues 219,569,644

        Change in net assets 42,583,785

Net assets, beginning 398,254,569

$

THE BOARD OF EDUCATION FOR THE CITY OF SAVANNAH

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
AND THE COUNTY OF CHATHAM, GEORGIA 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2010

Net assets, ending 440,838,354$                     

Notes to the Basic Financial Statements are an Integral Part of this Statement. D - 2





OTHER TOTAL
GENERAL ESPLOST GOVERNMENTAL GOVERNMENTAL

FUND FUND FUNDS FUNDS
ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 33,448,480$       0$                      5,836,686$         39,285,166$       
Receivables 54,842,616 5,913,951 7,911,015 68,667,582
Due from other funds 436,831 0 0 436,831
Inventories 0 0 230,819 230,819
Other current assets 61,992 0 118,991 180,983
Restricted cash and investments 0 108,847,635 2,725,405 111,573,040
Notes receivable 0 0 3,000,000 3,000,000

Total assets 88,789,919$       114,761,586$     19,822,916$       223,374,421$     

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES

LIABILITIES
Accounts and contracts payable 3,252,385$         0$                      855,469$           4,107,854$         
Salaries and benefits payable 37,761,989 0 7,266,838 45,028,827
Due to other funds 0 0 436,831 436,831
Other liabilities 40,000 0 0 40,000
Deferred revenue 19,664,913 0 3,101,376 22,766,289
Payable from restricted assets 

Accounts payable and contracts payable 0 11,102,815 77,096 11,179,911
Total liabilities 60,719,287         11,102,815         11,737,610 83,559,712

FUND BALANCES
Reserved for: 

Inventories 0 0 150,815 150,815
Debt service 0 0 2 195 716 2 195 716

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

THE BOARD OF EDUCATION FOR THE CITY OF SAVANNAH

BALANCE SHEET 
JUNE 30, 2010 

AND THE COUNTY OF CHATHAM, GEORGIA 

Debt service 0 0 2,195,716 2,195,716
Encumbrances 0 42,547,752 0 42,547,752

Total reserved fund balances 0 42,547,752 2,346,531 44,894,283
Unreserved:

Designated for: 
Debt service (pooled lease program) 1,910,027 0 0 1,910,027
Next fiscal year, reported in: 

General fund 4,526,401 0 0 4,526,401
Special revenue funds 0 0 431,508 431,508

Undesignated, reported in:
General fund 21,634,204 0 0 21,634,204
Capital projects funds 0 61,111,019 2,648,309 63,759,328
Special revenue funds 0 0 2,658,958 2,658,958

Total unreserved fund balances 28,070,632 61,111,019         5,738,775          94,920,426

Total fund balances 28,070,632         103,658,771       8,085,306          139,814,709

Total liabilities and fund balances 88,789,919$       114,761,586$     19,822,916$       223,374,421$     

Notes to the Basic Financial Statements are an Integral Part of this Statement. D - 3



Total fund balances - governmental funds 139,814,709$        

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net assets are different because:

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not current financial resources and therefore are not
  reported in this fund financial statement, but are reported in the governmental activities of the
  Statement of Net Assets. 370,653,200

Other long-term assets are not available to pay for current period 
expenditures: 
  Property taxes deferred in the funds 19,653,686$   
  Notes receivable deferred in the funds 3,000,000
  Interest receivable 90,000            22,743,686

The assets and liabilities of internal service funds are not included in the 
fund financial statement, but are included in the governmental activities of 
the Statement of Net Assets. 726,022

Some liabilities, (such as Notes Payable, Capital Lease Contract Payable, 
Long-term Compensated Absences, and Bonds Payable), are not due and
payable in the current period and are not included in the fund financial 
statement, but are included in the governmental activities of the Statement
of Net Assets.  See the long-term debt note. (91,450,154)

Interest payable on long-term obligations is not due and payable in the 
current period and is not included in the fund financial statements, but is 
included in the governmental activities of the Statement of Net Assets.  (1,649,109)

Total net assets - governmental activities 440,838,354$        

JUNE 30, 2010 

THE BOARD OF EDUCATION FOR THE CITY OF SAVANNAH
AND THE COUNTY OF CHATHAM, GEORGIA 
RECONCILIATION OF TOTAL GOVERNMENTAL FUND BALANCES
TO NET ASSETS OF GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES 

Notes to the Basic Financial Statements are an Integral Part of this Statement. D - 4



OTHER TOTAL
GENERAL ESPLOST GOVERNMENTAL GOVERNMENTAL

FUND FUND FUNDS FUNDS
REVENUES

Property taxes 158,369,324$      0$                        11,047$               158,380,371$
Sales taxes 0 57,230,414 0 57,230,414
State sources 101,809,113 0 9,876,802 111,685,915
Federal sources 14,327,604 0 48,710,479 63,038,083
Charges for services 29,847 0 2,975,705 3,005,552
Local and other funds 1,637,209 346,988 313,644 2,297,841

Total revenues 276,173,097        57,577,402          61,887,677          395,638,176

EXPENDITURES
Current:

Instruction 178,625,153 966,617 30,768,169 210,359,939
Pupil services 13,809,936 0 4,355,093 18,165,029
Instructional services 3,493,273 0 8,027,924 11,521,197
Educational media services 5,354,636 0 8,538 5,363,174
General administration 4,556,127 0 1,356,697 5,912,824
School administration 18,755,683 0 151,444 18,907,127
Business administration 4,365,731 0 0 4,365,731
Maintenance and operations 23,606,350 0 461,911 24,068,261
Pupil transportation 16,411,272 0 89,910 16,501,182
Central support services 3,130,420 0 4,310 3,134,730
Other support services 2,160 1,085,488 943,365 2,031,013
Food service operations 0 0 15,252,872 15,252,872

Debt service:
Principal 0 0 14,145,782 14,145,782
Interest and other charges 19,602 0 4,244,010 4,263,612

Capital outlay 2,048,542 37,936,045 2,661,156 42,645,743

Total expenditures 274,178,885        39,988,150          82,471,181          396,638,216

THE BOARD OF EDUCATION FOR THE CITY OF SAVANNAH

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND 

JUNE 30, 2010 

AND THE COUNTY OF CHATHAM, GEORGIA 

CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES 

p

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over (under) expenditures 1,994,212            17,589,252          (20,583,504)         (1,000,040)

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in 5,000,000 0 20,394,072 25,394,072
Transfers out (5,685,071)           (14,709,001)         (5,000,000)           (25,394,072)
Collections on installment sale of land 0 0 476,250 476,250

Total other financing sources (uses) (685,071)              (14,709,001)         15,870,322 476,250

Net change in fund balances 1,309,141            2,880,251            (4,713,182)           (523,790)

Fund balances, beginning 26,761,491 100,778,520 12,798,488 140,338,499
Fund balances, ending 28,070,632$        103,658,771$      8,085,306$          139,814,709$

Notes to the Basic Financial Statements are an Integral Part of this Statement. D - 5



Total net change in fund balances - governmental funds (523,790)$               

Amounts reported for Governmental Activities in the Statement of Activities are 
different because: 

Governmental funds report outlays for capital assets as expenditures because
such outlays use current financial resources.  In contrast, the Statement of 
Activities reports only a portion of the outlay as expense.  The outlay is 
allocated over the assets' estimated useful lives as depreciation expense for 
the period. 
  This is the amount by which capital outlays $42,645,743 exceeded (were less than)
  depreciation $15,997,438 in the current period. 26,648,305

The net effect of various miscellaneous transactions involving capital assets
(i.e. sales, trade-ins, donations) is to increase (decrease) net assets.  This is the amount of
the net book value of the other dispositions. (304,992)

Governmental funds do not present revenues that are not available to pay 
current obligations.  In contrast, such revenues are reported in the Statement of
Activities when earned:
  Deferred property tax revenue $2,323,432
  Notes receivable and related interest (386,250)      1,937,182

Governmental funds report debt proceeds as current financial resources.  In
contrast, the Statement of Activities treats such issuance of debt as a liability. 
Governmental funds report repayment of debt principal as an expenditure.  In
contrast, the Statement of Activities treats such repayments as a reduction in 
long-term liabilities.  This is the amount by which payments exceeded proceeds. 
See long-term debt note. 14,145,782

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2010
OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

THE BOARD OF EDUCATION FOR THE CITY OF SAVANNAH
AND THE COUNTY OF CHATHAM, GEORGIA 
RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES,
EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES 

In the Statement of Activities, interest is accrued on outstanding debt, whereas
in governmental funds, an interest expenditure is reported when due. 234,667

Some expenses reported in the Statement of Activities do not require the use of 
current financial resources and these are not reported as expenditures in 
governmental funds:
  Change in liability for compensated absences 316,239
  Amortization of deferred charge on refunding (281,110)
  Amortization of bond issuance costs (84,333)
  Amortization of bond premium 367,412       318,208

Internal service funds are used by management to charge the costs of certain
activities, such as insurance, to individual funds.  The net revenue (expense) of 
the internal service funds is reported with governmental activities. 128,423

    Change in net assets of governmental activities 42,583,785$           

Notes to the Basic Financial Statements are an Integral Part of this Statement. D - 6



Governmental
Activities-

Internal Service 
Funds

ASSETS
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 1,847,380$             
Total assets 1,847,380

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable 120,648
Other liabilities 1,000,710

Total liabilities 1,121,358               

NET ASSETS
Unrestricted 726,022

Total net assets 726,022$                

THE BOARD OF EDUCATION FOR THE CITY OF SAVANNAH

PROPRIETARY FUNDS
STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS 
JUNE 30, 2010 

AND THE COUNTY OF CHATHAM, GEORGIA

The Notes to the Basic Financial Statements are an Integral Part of this Statement. D - 7



THE BOARD OF EDUCATION FOR THE CITY OF SAVANNAH
AND THE COUNTY OF CHATHAM, GEORGIA
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET ASSETS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2010

Governmental
Activities-

Internal Service
Funds

OPERATING REVENUES
Risk management fees 2,949,947$     

Total operating revenues 2,949,947       

OPERATING EXPENSES
Risk management 2,824,112

Total operating expenses 2,824,112       
Operating income 125,835          

NON-OPERATING REVENUES
Interest and investment revenue 2,588

Change in net assets 128,423          

Total net assets - beginning 597,599
Total net assets - ending 726,022$        

The Notes to the Basic Financial Statements are an Integral Part of this Statement. D - 8



THE BOARD OF EDUCATION FOR THE CITY OF SAVANNAH
AND THE COUNTY OF CHATHAM, GEORGIA
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2010

Governmental
Activities-

Internal Service
Funds

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
Cash received for services and fees 2,949,947$     
Cash paid for supplies and insurance (2,959,442)

Net cash used in operating activities (9,495)             

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
Investment income 2,588

Net cash provided by investing activities 2,588              

Decrease in cash and cash equivalents (6,907)             
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 1,854,287

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 1,847,380$     

Reconciliation of operating income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Operating income 125,835$        

Decrease in accounts payable (27,159)           
Decrease in other liabilities (108,171)

Net cash used in operating activities (9,495)$           

The Notes to the Basic Financial Statements are an Integral Part of this Statement. D - 9



THE BOARD OF EDUCATION FOR THE CITY OF SAVANNAH
AND THE COUNTY OF CHATHAM, GEORGIA
AGENCY FUNDS
STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
JUNE 30, 2010 

AGENCY
FUNDS

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 1,042,938$       

Total assets 1,042,938$       

LIABILITIES
Due to student groups 1,043,080$       
Other liabilities (142)                  

Total liabilities 1,042,938$       

The Notes to the Basic Financial Statements are an Integral Part of this Statement. D - 10





D-11

THE BOARD OF EDUCATION FOR 
THE CITY OF SAVANNAH AND THE COUNTY 
OF CHATHAM, GEORGIA 

NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2010 
      
NOTE I. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES PAGE 
   
A. Reporting Entity D-12 
B. Basic Financial Statements D-12 
C. Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting D-15 
D. Assets, Liabilities, and Equity D-16 
E. Revenues, Expenditures, and Expenses D-20 
F. Budgets and Budgetary Accounting D-22 
   
NOTE II. DETAIL NOTES ON TRANSACTION CLASSES/ACCOUNTS  
   
A. Deposits and Investments D-22 
B. Receivables D-23 
C. Property Taxes D-24 
D. Capital Assets D-25 
E. Capital Leases D-26 
F. Short-term Debt D-27 
G. 
H.

Long-term Debt 
Interfund Receivables, Payables and Transfers                           

D-28
D-30

   
NOTE III. OTHER NOTES 
   
A. Other Postemployment Benefits D-31 
B. Retirement Plans D-32 
C. Contingencies and Commitments D-33 
D. Risk Management D-33 
E. On-Behalf Payments D-36 
F. Subsequent Event D-36 
   



THE BOARD OF EDUCATION FOR 
THE CITY OF SAVANNAH AND THE COUNTY  
OF CHATHAM, GEORGIA 

NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2010 

D-12

I. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The Board of Public Education for the City of Savannah and the County of Chatham, 
Georgia (the “district”) operates under a Board-Superintendent form of government and 
provides public educational services to the citizenry of the City of Savannah and the 
County of Chatham, Georgia.  The district receives funding from local, state, and federal 
government sources and must comply with the accompanying requirements of these 
funding source entities. 

The district’s financial statements are prepared in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles (GAAP).  The Government Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is 
responsible for establishing GAAP for state and local governments through its 
pronouncements (Statements and Interpretations).  The more significant accounting 
policies established in GAAP and used by the district are discussed below. 

A. Reporting Entity 

Generally accepted accounting principles defines the reporting entity for determining 
which potential component units should be included in a primary government’s 
financial statements.  Inclusion is based on financial accountability or the fact that 
exclusion would make the financial statements misleading or incomplete.  The 
criteria for determining financial accountability includes appointing a voting majority 
of an organization’s governing body and (1) the ability of the district to impose its will 
on that organization or (2) the potential for the organization to provide specific 
financial benefits to, or impose specific financial burdens on the district. 

Using the above criteria the district has no component units. 

The district is a primary government since it meets the following criteria:   

a. It has a separately elected governing body. 
b. It is legally separate. 
c. It is fiscally independent of other state and local governments.   

           
Since the district is a primary government, it is not a component unit of any other 
governmental reporting entity.     

B. Basic Financial Statements 

The district’s basic financial statements include both district-wide (reporting the 
district as a whole) and fund financial statements (reporting the district’s major  
funds).  Both the district-wide and fund financial statements categorize its primary 
activities as governmental.  Those activities (functions) are instruction, pupil services, 
instructional services, educational media services, general administration, school 
administration, business administration, maintenance and operations, pupil 
transportation, central support services, other support services, food service 
operations and interest on long-term debt. 
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1. District-wide Financial Statements 

In the district-wide Statement of Net Assets, the governmental activity column (a) 
is presented on a consolidated basis and (b) is reported on a full accrual, 
economic resource basis, which recognizes all long-term assets and receivables 
as well as long-term debt and obligations.  The district’s net assets are reported 
in three parts - invested in capital assets, net of related debt; restricted net 
assets; and unrestricted net assets.  The district first utilizes restricted resources 
to finance qualifying activities. 

The district-wide Statement of Activities reports both the gross and net cost of 
each of the district’s functions.  The functions are also supported by general 
government revenues (property taxes, certain intergovernmental revenues, 
unrestricted investment earnings, and other revenues).  The Statement of 
Activities reduces gross expenses (including depreciation and other indirect costs 
that are allocated proportionally among the functions) by related program 
revenues that are directly associated with the function.  Program revenues 
include 1) charges to customers or applicants who purchase, use, or directly 
benefit from goods, services, or privileges provided by a function or segment and 
2) grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or 
capital requirements of a particular function or segment. 

This district-wide focus is more on the sustainability of the district as an entity 
and the change in the district’s net assets resulting from the current year’s 
activities. 

2. Fund Financial Statements 

The financial transactions of the district are reported in individual funds in the 
fund financial statements.  Each fund is accounted for by providing a separate 
set of self-balancing accounts that comprises its assets, liabilities, fund equity, 
revenues, and expenditure/expenses.  The various funds are reported by generic 
classification within the financial statements.  Major individual governmental 
funds are reported as separate columns in the fund financial statements.  The 
emphasis in fund financial statements is on the major funds in the governmental 
fund category. 

The district reports the following major governmental funds: 

� General Fund 
� ESPLOST Fund 
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The district uses the following fund types: 

a. Governmental Funds: 

The focus of the governmental funds’ measurement (in the fund statements) 
is upon determination of financial position and changes in financial position 
(sources, uses and balances of financial resources) rather than upon net 
income.  The following is a description of the governmental funds of the 
district: 

i. The General Fund is the general operating fund of the district.  It is used 
to account for all financial resources except those required to be 
accounted for in another fund. 

ii. Special Revenue funds are used to account for the proceeds of specific 
revenue sources that are legally restricted to expenditures for specified 
purposes. 

iii. The Debt Service fund is used to account for the accumulation of funds 
for the periodic payment of principal and interest on general long-term 
debt.

iv. The Capital Project funds are used to account for financial resources to 
be used for the acquisition or construction of major capital facilities (other 
than those financed by business-type/proprietary funds).  The ESPLOST 
fund accounts for the proceeds from the special purpose option sales tax 
for educational purposes that are restricted for the construction and major 
renovation of schools. 

b. Proprietary Funds: 

The focus of proprietary fund measurement is upon determination of 
operating income, changes in net assets, financial position, and cash flows.  
The generally accepted accounting principles applicable are those similar to 
businesses in the private sector.  The following is a description of the 
proprietary funds of the district: 

Internal service funds are used to account for the financing of risk 
management services such as:  worker’s compensation, unemployment 
compensation, and employee dental plan that are charged to other 
departments or funds of the district on a cost-reimbursement basis.  The 
principal users of the internal services are the district’s governmental 
activities.  The financial statement of the internal service fund is consolidated 
into the governmental column when presented in the district-wide financial 
statements.  The cost of these services is reported in the appropriate 
functional activity. 
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c. Fiduciary Funds: 

Fiduciary Funds are used to report assets held in an agency capacity for 
others, are not available to support district programs, and do not involve 
measurement of results of operations.  The district has two fiduciary (agency) 
funds.  The Flex-one fund accounts for employee withholdings for dependent 
care under section 125 of the IRS code and the Student Activity fund 
accounts for various student activities. 

The district’s fiduciary funds are presented in the fiduciary fund financial 
statements by type (agency).  Since by definition these assets are being held 
for the benefit of third parties and cannot be used to address activities or 
obligations of the government, these funds are not incorporated into the 
district-wide statements. 

C. Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting 

Basis of accounting refers to the point at which revenues or 
expenditure/expenses are recognized in the accounts and reported in the 
financial statements.  It relates to the timing of the measurements made 
regardless of the measurement focus applied.  The measurement focus relates 
to the types of transactions reported.  The district-wide financial statements and 
the proprietary (internal service) fund are accounted for on a flow of economic 
resources measurement focus.  With this measurement focus, all assets and all 
liabilities (whether current or non-current) are included on the statement of net 
assets.  Governmental funds financial statements are accounted for on a flow of 
current financial resources measurement focus.  With this measurement focus, 
generally only current assets and current liabilities are reported.  

1. Accrual: 

Governmental activities in the district-wide financial statements, the 
proprietary (internal service) fund financial statements, and the fiduciary 
(agency) fund financial statements are presented on the accrual basis of 
accounting.  Revenues are recognized when earned and expenses are 
recognized when incurred. 

2. Modified Accrual: 

The governmental funds financial statements are presented on the 
modified accrual basis of accounting.  Under the modified accrual basis of 
accounting, revenues are recorded when susceptible to accrual; i.e., both 
measureable and available.  “Available” means collectible within the 
current period or within 60 days after year end.  Revenues considered 
susceptible to accrual are property taxes, sales taxes, intergovernmental 
revenues, and investment income.
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The State of Georgia reimburses the district for teachers’ salaries and 
operating costs through the Quality Basic Education Formula Earnings 
program (QBE).  Generally teachers are contracted for the school year 
(July 1 – June 30) and paid over a twelve month contract period, 
generally September 1 through August 31.  In accordance with the 
respective rules and regulations of the QBE program, the State of 
Georgia reimburses the district over the same twelve month period in 
which teachers are paid.  At June 30, the amount of teachers’ salaries 
incurred but not paid until July and August of the subsequent year are 
accrued.  Since the State of Georgia recognizes its QBE liability for the 
July and August salaries at June 30, the district recognizes the same 
QBE as a receivable and revenue, consistent with symmetrical 
recognition.  Expenditures are generally recognized under the modified 
accrual basis of accounting when the related liability is incurred.  The 
exception to this general rule is that principal and interest on long-term 
debt are recognized when due.  

 
D. Assets, Liabilities, and Equity 

 
1. Deposits and Investments: 
 
The district maintains a cash and investment pool that is available for all 
funds.  Each funds’ portion of this pool is displayed as “Cash & Cash 
Equivalents.”  For purposes of the statement of cash flows, the district 
considers all highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or 
less when purchased to be cash equivalents. 
 
Official Code of Georgia Annotated (OCGA) Section 45-8-12 provides 
that there shall not be on deposit at any time in any depository for a time 
longer than ten days a sum of money which has not been secured by a 
surety bond, by guarantee of insurance, or by collateral.  The aggregate 
of the face value of such surety bond and the market value of securities 
pledged shall be equal to no less than 110 percent of the public funds 
being secured after the deduction of the amount of deposit insurance.  If a 
depository elects the pooled method (OCGA 45-8-13.1) the aggregate of 
the market value of the securities pledged to secure a pool of public funds 
shall be not less than 110 percent of the daily pool balance.  OCGA 
Section 45-8-11(b) provides an officer holding public funds may, in his 
discretion, waive the requirement for security in the case of operating 
funds placed in the demand deposit checking accounts. 
 
The district has no custodial credit risk policy that would require additional 
collateral requirements. 
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Investments are reported at fair value.  Short-term investments are 
reported at cost, which approximates fair value.  Securities traded on a 
national or international exchange are valued at the last reported sales 
price at current exchange rates.  Investments that do not have an 
established market price are reported at estimated fair values.  Interest 
income on investments is accrued as earned. 

The district is authorized by state statutes to invest in the obligations of 
the U.S. Treasury, agencies and instrumentalities, repurchase 
agreements, bank certificates of deposit, and the Georgia Fund 1 
administered by the State of Georgia.  Georgia Fund 1 was created under 
OCGA 36-83-8 and operates in a manner consistent with Rule 2a-7 of the 
Investment Company Act of 1940 and is considered to be a 2a-7 like 
pool.  The pool is not registered with the Securities Exchange 
Commission as an investment company.  The fair value of the district’s 
position in the pool is the same as the value of pool shares ($1 per share 
value).

2. Receivables:

In the fund financial statements, material receivables in governmental 
funds include revenue accruals such as property taxes, sales taxes, 
grants, and other similar intergovernmental revenues since they are 
usually both measurable and available.  Non-exchange transactions 
collectible but not available are deferred in the fund financial statements 
in accordance with the modified accrual basis, but not deferred in the 
district-wide financial statements in accordance with the accrual basis.  
Accounts receivable comprise the majority of proprietary fund 
receivables.  Allowance for uncollectible accounts receivable are based 
upon historical trends and the periodic aging of accounts receivable. 

3. Inventory: 

Inventories are stated at cost (principally first in, first-out), which is not in 
excess of market.  The district utilizes the consumption method to 
recognize inventory usage.  Under the consumption method, inventories 
are recorded as expenditures when used rather than when purchased.  
Reported inventories are equally offset by a reservation of fund balance, 
which indicates that they do not constitute “available spendable 
resources” even though they are a component of net current assets. 

The United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) commodity portion 
of the food services inventory consists of food donated by the USDA.  It is 
valued at estimated market prices by the USDA.  The amount of 
commodities on hand at year-end is reflected as deferred revenue. 
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4. Restricted Assets: 

Restricted assets represent amounts related to bond proceeds, tax levies, 
and sales tax proceeds whose use is limited to capital projects by 
applicable bond covenants or enabling legislation. 

5. Capital Assets: 

The accounting treatment over Capital Assets depends on whether the 
assets are used in governmental fund operations or proprietary fund 
operations and whether they are reported in the district-wide or fund 
financial statements. 

District-wide Statements

Capital assets, which include land, building, building improvements, 
equipment, and software, are reported in the applicable governmental 
activities columns in the district-wide financial statements.  Capital Assets 
are recorded at historical cost or estimated historical cost if purchased or 
constructed.  The capitalization threshold is a unit cost of $1,000 or more, 
except for computers and software.  Computers are capitalized 
regardless of cost and software is capitalized at a unit cost of $30,000 or 
more.  Donated capital assets are recorded at estimated fair market value 
at the date of donation.  The cost of normal maintenance and repairs that 
do not add to the value of the assets or materially extend asset lives are 
not capitalized.  Major outlays for capital assets and improvements are 
capitalized as projects are constructed. 

Depreciation of all exhaustible capital assets is recorded as an allocated 
expense in the Statement of Activities, with accumulated depreciation 
reflected in the Statement of Net Assets.  Depreciation is provided over 
the assets’ estimated useful lives using the straight-line method of 
depreciation.  The range of estimated useful lives by type of asset is as 
follows: 

Buildings and Improvements 20-50 years 
Equipment and software 3-10 years 

Fund Financial Statements

In the fund financial statements, capital assets used in governmental fund 
operations are accounted for as capital outlay expenditures of the 
governmental fund upon acquisition.  Capital assets used in proprietary 
fund operations are accounted for the same as in district-wide 
statements.
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6. Long-term Debt: 

The accounting treatment of long-term debt depends on whether the 
assets are used in governmental fund operations or proprietary fund 
operations and whether they are reported in the district-wide or fund 
financial statements. 

Long-term debt to be repaid from governmental resources is reported as 
a liability in the district-wide statements.  The long-term debt consists of 
general obligation bonds, contractual obligations, capital leases, and 
accrued compensated absences.  Bond premiums and discounts, as well 
as issuance costs, are deferred and amortized over the life of the bonds 
using a straight-line method. 

Long-term debt for governmental funds is not reported as a liability in the 
fund financial statements.  The face amount of the debt issued and 
premiums on the debt issuances are reported as other financing sources.   

Payment of principal, interest and issuance costs, whether or not withheld 
from the actual debt proceeds, are reported as debt service expenditures. 

7. Equity Classifications: 

District-wide Statements

Equity is classified as net assets and displayed in three components: 

a. Invested in capital assets, net of related debt – Consists 
of capital assets including restricted capital assets, net of 
accumulated depreciation and reduced by the outstanding 
balances of any bonds, mortgages, notes, or other 
borrowings that are attributable to the acquisition, 
construction, or improvement of those assets. 

b. Restricted net assets- Consist of net assets with constraints 
placed on the use either by (1) external groups such as 
creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of 
other governments; or (2) law through constitutional 
provisions or enabling legislation. 

c. Unrestricted net assets- All other net assets that do not 
meet the definition of “restricted” or “invested in capital 
assets, net of related debt.” 

Fund Statements

Governmental fund equity is classified as fund balance.  Fund balance is 
further classified as reserved and unreserved, with unreserved further  
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split between designated and undesignated.  Fund balance designations 
are established to indicate tentative plans for financial resource utilization 
in a future period. 

Proprietary fund equity is classified the same as in the district-wide 
statements.

E. Revenues, Expenditures, and Expenses 

1. Operating Revenues and Expenses: 

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from non-
operating items.  Operating revenues and expenses generally result from 
providing services and producing and delivering goods in connection with 
a proprietary fund’s principal ongoing operations.  The principal operating 
revenues of the district’s internal service funds are charges to funds for 
risk management services.  The district’s operating expenses for internal 
service funds include risk management expenses.  All revenues and 
expenses not meeting this definition are reported as non-operating 
revenues and expenses. 

2. Expenditures/Expenses

In the district-wide financial statements, expenses are classified by 
function for governmental activities. 

In the fund financial statements, expenditures are classified as follows: 

Governmental Funds – By Character: Current (further classified by 
function), Debt Service, and Capital Outlay. 

Proprietary Fund – By Operating and Non-Operating 

In the fund financial statements, governmental funds report expenditures 
of current financial resources.  Proprietary funds report expenses relating 
to use of economic resources. 

3. Interfund Activity and Internal Balances: 

Interfund activities are reflected as either loans, services provided,
reimbursements or transfers.  Loans are reported as receivables and 
payables as appropriate and are subject to elimination upon 
consolidation.  Services provided, deemed to be at market or near market 
rates, are treated as revenues and expenditures/expenses and are 
eliminated from the statement of activities to remove the “doubling-up” 
effect of the activity.  Reimbursements are when one fund incurs a cost,  
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charges the appropriate benefiting fund, and reduces its related cost as a 
reimbursement.  Permanent reallocation of resources between funds is 
classified as interfund transfers. 

In the process of aggregating data for the Statement of Net Assets and 
the Statement of Activities certain amounts reported as interfund activity  
and balances in the funds are eliminated or reclassified in the district-wide 
financial statements. 

Exceptions to this general rule are charges between the districts internal 
service functions and other district functions.  The amounts charged are 
reasonably equivalent in value to the services provided.  Elimination of 
these charges would distort the direct costs and program revenues 
reported for the various functions concerned.  See note I.B.2.b for 
additional information on Internal Service Funds. 

4. Compensated Absences: 

Eligible district employees earn annual vacation based on length of 
service, to a maximum of 22 days after 20 years of service.  Sick leave 
accrues based upon the following provisions: 

1) All employees earn one and one-quarter days of sick leave with 
full pay each month. 

2) Sick leave is cumulative up to one hundred twenty days. 
3) Upon retirement or termination of employment with five or more 

years of service in the school system and at least thirty full days of 
unused sick leave, employees are paid a portion of their 
accumulated sick leave as severance pay based on a formula 
approved by the district. 

All compensated absences and related benefits are accrued when 
incurred in the district-wide financial statements.  A liability for these 
amounts is reported in governmental funds only if they have matured, for 
example, as a result of employee resignations and retirements. 

5. Use of Estimates: 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally 
accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates 
and assumptions that may affect the amounts reported in the financial 
statements and the related notes.  Accordingly, actual results could differ 
from these estimates. 
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F. Budgets and Budgetary Accounting      

Annual budgets are adopted on a basis consistent with generally accepted 
accounting principles for the General, Special Revenue, and Debt Service funds.  
Appropriations for capital projects are adopted by the district principally on an 
individual project basis, when the project is initially approved.  All appropriations, 
both encumbered and unencumbered, lapse at June 30, except encumbrances in 
the ESPLOST and Other Capital Projects Fund, which are continuing.  The level 
of legal budgetary control (the level at which expenditures may not exceed 
appropriations) is at the fund level.      

      

II. DETAIL NOTES ON TRANSACTION CLASSES/ACCOUNTS 

A.  Deposits and Investments        

Summary of the districts deposits and investments at June 30, 2010 is as follows: 

Account Balances Ownership of Funds
Petty Cash/Cash on Hand 20,666$                  Governmental Funds:
Demand Deposits 31,205,197               Cash and Investments 39,285,166$               
Money Market Funds 11,055,018               Restricted Cash and Investments 111,573,040               
Certificates of Deposit 600,000                  Internal Service Funds 1,847,380                   
Investments 110,867,643           Agency Funds 1,042,938                   

153,748,524$         153,748,524$             

 As of June 30, 2010, the district had the following investments: 

Weighted Average
Investment Maturities Fair Value

Georgia Fund I (investment pool) 28 day average 110,867,643$      
110,867,643$      

Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect 
the value of an investment.  The district’s policy is to minimize interest rate risk 
by structuring the investment portfolio so that securities mature to meet cash 
requirements for ongoing operations, thereby avoiding the need to sell securities 
on the open market prior to maturity; and investing operating funds primarily in 
shorter-term securities, money market funds, or similar investment pools and 
limiting the average maturity of the portfolio. 

Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or counterparty to an investment will not fulfill 
its obligations.  The district’s investment policy minimizes credit risk by limiting 
the types of securities to those listed in Note I.D.1, pre-qualifying the financial 
institutions, brokers/dealers, intermediaries, and advisers with which the district 
does business, and diversifying the investment portfolio so that the impact of  
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potential losses from any one type of security or issuer will be minimized.  As of 
June 30, 2010, the district’s investment in Georgia Fund I (investment pool) was 
rated AAAm by Standards & Poor’s. 

Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss attributed to the magnitude of the 
district’s investment in a single issuer.  The district’s policy allows 100% of its 
portfolio to be invested in U.S. Treasury Obligations, Obligations of the U.S. 
Government agencies, or the State sponsored local government investment pool.  
The district limits its investment portfolio to 50% for investments in Repurchase 
Agreements collateralized by U.S. Government Securities, Certificates of 
Deposit, and Money Market Mutual funds.  No more than the greater of $10  

million or 25% of the total portfolio for Certificates of Deposit may be placed with 
any one financial institution and 100% of the investments in Repurchase  
Agreements may be placed with any one financial institution.  The Georgia Fund 
I (investment pool) investments are excluded from concentration of credit risk. 

B.  Receivables       

Receivables as of year end for the district’s individual major and nonmajor funds, 
including the applicable allowances for uncollectible accounts, are as follows: 

Nonmajor
General ESPLOST Governmental Tota l

Receivables:
  Taxes 23,258,821$        5,913,951$          10,775$               29,183,547$        
  Interest 9,138                   -                       -                       9,138                   
  Accounts 140,755               7,899,909            8,040,664            
  Intergovernmental 31,713,008          459                      31,713,467          

55,121,722$        5,913,951$          7,911,143$          68,946,816$        
Less:  Allowance for 
uncollectib les (279,106)              (128)                     (279,234)              
Net to tal receivables 54,842,616$        5,913,951$          7,911,015$          68,667,582$        

The only receivables not expected to be collected within the subsequent fiscal 
year are $4.1 million of taxes receivable in the General Fund.  Notes receivable 
not expected to be collected within the subsequent fiscal year approximates $2.2 
million.

In the General fund, significant components of intergovernmental receivables 
include $15,398,784 from the State of Georgia for Quality Basic Education (QBE) 
formula grants and $16,314,224 from the Chatham County Tax Commissioner.   

Governmental funds report deferred revenue in connection with receivables for 
revenues that are not considered to be available to liquidate liabilities of the 
current period.  Governmental funds also defer revenue recognition in connection  
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with resources that have been received, but not yet earned.  At the end of the 
current fiscal year, the various components of deferred revenue and unearned 
revenue reported in the governmental funds were as follows: 

Grants and other receivables (reported in General and Non-major governmental 
funds) primarily represent funds due to the district for reimbursement of 
expenditures/expenses incurred as of year-end under grant terms. 

The note receivable, which bears 3 percent annual interest and annual principal 
payments of $375,000 through the year 2017, represents the balance on the 
1998 sale of Wilder Middle School property. 

C.  Property Taxes        

Chatham County bills and collects property taxes for the Board of Education.  
Property taxes are levied (assessed) on all taxable real, public utility and 
personal property (including vehicles) located within the County as of January 1st

of each year.  Assessed values for property tax purposes are determined by the 
Chatham County Board of Tax Assessors for all property except public utilities 
and motor vehicles.  Assessed value is set at 40% of market value.  Public utility 
assessed values are established by the State of Georgia. 

Property is appraised and a lien on such property becomes enforceable 60 days 
after final notification on delinquency of property taxes.  Taxes are due and 
payable when billed by the Chatham County Tax Commissioner.  Chatham 
County may place liens on property once the related tax payments become 
delinquent. 

Unavailable Unearned
Property tax receivable (General Fund) 19,644,143$ -$
Property tax receivable (Other governmental funds) 9,543 -   
Lost & Damaged textbook deposits (General Fund) - 20,770   
Unearned summer camp revenue (Other governmental funds) - 11,829   
Donated USDA commodities not yet consumed
  (Other governmental funds) - 80,004   
Note receivable (Capital Projects fund) 3,000,000 -   
Total deferred/unearned revenue for governmental funds 22,653,686$ 112,603$
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The property tax calendar is as follows: 

Event Date
Beginning of fiscal year for taxes January 1, 2010
Vehicle personal property tax bills rendered January 1, 2010
First installment real property tax bills rendered
  (based on prior year tax digest) April 1, 2010
Delinquency date - vehicle personal property taxes Taxpayer's birthday
First installment real property tax payment due date June 1, 2010
Millage rate approved June 30, 2010
Second installment real property tax bills and 
  personal property tax bills rendered September 20, 2010
Second installment real property tax bills and personal
  property tax payments due date November 20, 2010
Tax sales - delinquent real property taxes and other
  assessments Various

D. Capital Assets 

Balance Balance
June 30, 2009 Increases Decreases June 30, 2010

Capital Assets, not being depreciated:
  Land 20,175,109$      -$                   -$                   20,175,109$      
  Construction in progress 5,358,661          38,766,668        (4,407,977)         39,717,352        
Total capital assets, not being depreciated 25,533,770        38,766,668        (4,407,977)         59,892,461        

Capital assets, being depreciated:
  Building and improvements 405,272,958      511,007             (134,380)            405,649,585      
  Equipment 77,131,811        7,776,045          (4,705,191)         80,202,665        
Total capital assets, being depreciated 482,404,769      8,287,052          (4,839,571)         485,852,250      

Less accumulated depreciation for:
  Buildings and improvements (106,487,225)     (8,146,892)         41,712               (114,592,405)
  Equipment (57,141,427)       (7,850,546)         4,492,867          (60,499,106)       
Total accumulated depreciation (163,628,652)     (15,997,438)       4,534,579          (175,091,511)

Total capital asset, being depreciated, net 318,776,117      (7,710,386)         (304,992)            310,760,739      

Governmental activities capital assets, net 344,309,887$    31,056,282$      (4,712,969)$       370,653,200$    
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Depreciation expense was charged to functions/activities of the primary government 
as follows:

Governmental activities:
Instruction 12,350,479        
Pupil services 41,982               
Instructional Services 111,005             
Educational media services 25,930               
General administration 661,107             
School administration 28,246               
Business administration 19,715               
Maintenance and operations 380,618             
Pupil transportation 1,572,245          
Central support services 672,338             
Food service operations 133,773             

Total depreciation expense - governmental activities 15,997,438$      

    
E.  Capital Leases        

The district has entered into several capital lease agreements as lessee for 
financing the acquisition of buses and certain other equipment.  Principal and 
interest payments under capital leases having remaining terms in excess of one  
year as of June 30, 2010 are as follows: 

Fiscal Year Capital 
Ending June 30, Leases

2011 2,121,923$          
2012 1,658,053            
2013 1,226,801            
2014 831,687               
2015 278,823               

Total minimum lease payments 6,117,287            
Less: amount representing interest (468,320)              
Present value of future minimum lease payments 5,648,967$          

The following schedule shows the book value of these assets. 

Capital Assets
Under

Capital Leases

Equipment 16,906,354$              
Less: accumulated depreciation (11,022,404)               
 Total 5,883,950$               
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F.  Short-term Debt 

The district obtained a tax anticipation note during FY10 and deposited the 
proceeds in its General Fund.  This short-term debt is to provide cash for 
operations until property tax collections are received by the district.  Article IX, 
Section V, Paragraph V of the Constitution of the State of Georgia limits the 
aggregate amount of short-term debt to 75 percent of the total gross income from 
taxes collected in the preceding year and requires all short-term debt to be repaid 
no later than December 31 of the calendar year in which the debt was incurred. 

Short-term debt activity for the fiscal year is as follows: 
Beginning Ending

Balance Issued Redeemed Balance

Tax Anticipation Note - General Fund -$                 20,000,000$    20,000,000$    -$                 
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G.  Long-term Debt        

The following schedule summarizes the district’s long-term debt issues, including 
interest rates, original debt, and balance at year end. 

Interest Original Balance
Rates Debt June 30, 2010

General Obligation Bonds:
  Refunded Series 1998A 3.0% - 4.4% 24,025,000$        2,935,000$          
  Refunded Series 1998B 3.0% - 5.0% 25,990,000          3,550,000            
  Refunded Series 2002 2.5% - 5.25% 39,950,000          35,680,000          
  Refunded Series 2004 5.0% - 5.25% 45,525,000          35,065,000          
Total General Obligation Bonds 135,490,000        77,230,000          

Contractual Obligation:
  Refunding Series 2002 2.2% - 3.25% 12,110,000          1,650,000            
Total Contractual Obligations 12,110,000          1,650,000            

Capital Leases:
  GMA Lease Supplement N 3.26% 1,240,437            365,267               
  GMA Lease Supplement O 3.37% 693,119               321,851               
  GMA Lease Supplement P/Q 3.42% 2,122,239            1,297,181            
  GMA Lease Supplement 300-6 variable (1) 2,869,324            409,905               
  GMA Lease Supplement 300-8 variable (1) 1,474,032            400,095               
  GMA Lease Supplement 300-9 variable (1) 1,767,205            757,373               
  GMA Lease Supplement 300-10 variable (1) 1,280,358            731,634               
  GMA Lease Supplement 300-11 variable (1) 1,911,928            1,365,661            
Total Capital Leases 13,358,642          5,648,967            

  Total Debt Issues 160,958,642$      84,528,967$        

Interest rate note (1) - interest rate based on current market rate

The general obligation bonds and contractual obligation were issued for the 
construction and major renovation of the district’s facilities. 
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Requirements to Maturity - General Obligation Debt

Year Principal Interest

2011 11,375,000               3,551,712                 
2012 5,745,000                 3,150,596                 
2013 6,185,000                 2,890,525                 
2014 6,585,000                 2,604,440                 
2015 7,100,000                 2,249,901                 

2016-2020 38,095,000               5,277,510                 
2021-2023 2,145,000                 56,306                      

77,230,000$             19,780,990$             

Requirements to Maturity - Contractual Obligations

Year Principal Interest

2011 1,650,000                 26,812                      
1,650,000$               26,812$                    

Changes in Long-term Debt

Balance Balance Due Within

July 1 , 2009 Additions Retirements June 30, 2010 One Year

General Obligation Bonds 87,885,000$    -$                 10,655,000$    77,230,000$    11,375,000$    

Contractual Obligations 3,250,000        -                   1,600,000        1,650,000        1,650,000        

Capital Leases 7,539,749        -                   1,890,782        5,648,967        1,910,027        

Compensated Absences 6,108,195        3,548,601        3,864,840        5,791,956        342,711           

    Sub total 104,782,944    3,548,601        18,010,622      90,320,923      15,277,738      

Deferred Amounts:

  Deferred charges on refunding (1,641,220)       -                   (281,110)          (1,360,110)       (238,266)          

  Bond premium 3,348,681        -                   367,412           2,981,269        364,084           

    Total 106,490,405$  3,548,601$      18,096,924$    91,942,082$    15,403,556$    

In prior years, compensated absences have been typically liquidated with 
General Fund resources. 
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H.  Interfund Receivables, Payables, and Transfers     
   

The composition of interfund balances as of June 30, 2010 is as follows: 

Receivable Fund Payable Fund Amount Purpose

General Other governmental 436,831$             Cash to be repaid upon receipt of grant revenues.

  Total due to / from other funds 436,831$             

These balances represent loans between the borrower fund and the lender fund.  
These balances resulted from the time lag between the dates that 1) interfund 
goods and services are provided or reimbursable expenditures occur, 2) 
transactions are recorded in the accounting system, and 3) payments between 
funds are made.  Interfund receivables and payables are reported in the fund 
financial statements.  However, they are eliminated in the district-wide financial 
statements if the interfund loan is between governmental funds.  Interfund 
receivables and payables are expected to be repaid within one year. 

                                                      Transfer In
General Non-Major

Transfer Out: Fund Governmental Total

General Fund -$                                   5,685,071$          5,685,071$          
ESPLOST 14,709,001          14,709,001          
Other Governmental Funds 5,000,000                          5,000,000            
Total Transfers out 5,000,000$                        20,394,072$        25,394,072$        

Interfund transfers are used to 1) move revenues from the fund that statute or 
budget requires collecting them to the fund that statute or budget requires to 
expend them, 2) move receipts restricted to debt service from the funds 
collecting the receipts to the debt service fund as debt service payments become 
due, and 3) use unrestricted revenues collected in the general fund to finance 
various programs accounted for in other funds in accordance with budgetary 
authorizations.  Transfers of this type are recorded as other financing uses and 
other financing sources in the governmental funds financial statements.  
However, they are eliminated in the district-wide financial statements if the 
interfund transfer is within the governmental fund group. 

The following are the significant interfund transfers that occurred in FY10:  
1)  Transferred $14,709,001 from the ESPLOST fund to the debt service fund to 

cover general obligation bond payments  
2)  Transferred $3,863,871 from the general fund to the debt service fund for the 

payment of capital leases and other contractual obligations 
3)  Transferred $1,821,200 from the general fund to the middle/high school 

athletic funds and to other special program funds to provide annual operating 
support. 
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4)  Transferred $5,000,000 from the other capital projects funds to the general 
fund to refund a transfer made in 2006 for classroom additions. 

III. OTHER NOTES 

A. Other Postemployment Benefits 

Plan Description. The School District contributes to the Georgia Retiree Health 
Benefit Fund (“GRHBF”), a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit 
postemployment healthcare plan administered by the Department of Community 
Health.  GRHBF provides health insurance benefits to eligible retirees and their 
qualified beneficiaries.  Pursuant to Title 45, Chapter 18 of the Official Code of 
Georgia Annotated, the authority to establish and amend the benefit provisions of 
the plan is assigned to the Board of Community Health.  The Department of 
Community Health issues a publicly available financial report that includes 
financial statements and required supplementary information for GRHBF.  That 
report may be obtained from the Department of Community Health at 2 
Peachtree Street, Atlanta, Georgia 30303. 

Funding Policy. The contribution requirements of plan members and participating 
employers are established and may be amended by the Board of Community 
Health.  Contributions of plan members or beneficiaries receiving benefits vary 
based on plan election, dependent coverage, and Medicare eligibility and 
election.  On average, plan members pay approximately 25% of the cost of 
health insurance coverage. 

Participating employers are statutorily required to contribute in accordance with 
the employer contribution rate established by the Board of Community Health.  
This contribution rate is established to fund both the active and retired employee 
health insurance plans based on projected pay-as-you-go financing 
requirements.  The employer contribution rates for the combined active and 
retiree plans for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2010, were as follows: 

Teachers 14.49% - 18.53%
Non-Certificated Employees $162.72 per month

The District’s contribution to the health insurance plans for the fiscal year ended 
June 30, 2010 was $29,070,263, which equaled the required contribution. 
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B. Retirement Plans 

Teachers’ Retirement System

Plan Description.  The district contributes to the Teachers’ Retirement System of 
Georgia (TRS), a cost - sharing, multiple - employer defined benefit pension plan 
administered by the TRS Board of Trustees.  TRS provides retirement and 
disability benefits, annual cost-of-living adjustments, and death benefits to plan 
members and beneficiaries.  Title 47, Chapter 3 of the Official Code of Georgia 
Annotated, assigns the authority to establish and amend benefit provisions to the  
TRS Board of Trustees.  The TRS Board of Trustees issues a publicly available 
financial report that includes financial statements and required supplementary 
information for TRS.  That report may be obtained by writing to TRS of Georgia, 
Two Northside 75, Suite 400, Atlanta GA  30331, or by calling 1-800-352-0650. 

Funding Policy. Plan members are required to contribute 5% of their annual 
covered salary and the district is required to contribute at an actuarially 
determined rate.  The current rate is 9.74% of annual covered payroll.  The 
contribution requirements of plan members and the district are established and 
may be amended by the TRS Board of Trustees.  The district’s contributions to 
TRS for the years ended June 30, 2010, 2009, and 2008 were $18,759,762, 
$18,129,601, and $17,031,442,  respectively, equal to the required contributions 
for each year. 

Employees’ Retirement System

Lunchroom personnel, and maintenance and custodial personnel are covered by 
the Public Employees’ Retirement System of Georgia (ERS), a defined 
contribution plan.  The district is not legally required and did not contribute to 
ERS, which is fully funded by the state and by employee contributions.  The 
State contribution on behalf of the school system was $73,590, which represents 
0.76% of covered payroll.  The employees made the required contribution of 
$16,352, which is statutorily determined at $4 per employee per month.  The 
contribution represented 0.17% of covered payroll.  

All full-time lunchroom personnel, maintenance, and custodial personnel are 
covered and must participate in ERS as mandated by the State.  Under the 
pension plan, benefits vest after 10 years of full-time employment.  An employee 
with 10 years of service may retire at age 65 and receive full retirement benefits.  
Employees covered by the pension plan must contribute a fixed monthly amount 
to the pension plan.  The State is required to make actuarially determined 
contributions that maintain the financial integrity of the retirement system.  See  

Note III.E for information related to the recognition of revenues and expenditures 
during the period. 
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The district’s total fiscal year 2010 payroll for all of its employees was 
$211,800,401.  The amount of its fiscal year 2010 payroll covered by the pension 
plan was $9,654,103. 

C. Contingencies and Commitments 

The district is involved in a number of legal matters, which either have or could 
result in litigation.  In the opinion of district management after consultation with 
legal counsel, the ultimate outcome of these contingencies will not have a 
material impact on the financial position of the district. 

The district participates in a number of Federal Financial assistance programs, 
including the National School Lunch Program and the School Breakfast Program, 
the Title VIB Special Education, The Title I Part A Improving the Academic 
Achievement of the Disadvantaged Program, Title II Part A Improving Teacher 
Quality, and the Assistance for Education for All Children with Disabilities 
Program.  Although the district’s grant programs have been audited in 
accordance with the provisions of the Single Audit Act Amendments of 1996 
through June 30, 2010, these programs are still subject to financial and 
compliance audits.  The amount, if any, of expenditures which may be disallowed 
by the granting agencies cannot be determined at this time, although the district 
expects such amounts, if any, to be immaterial. 

The district is committed under outstanding construction contracts in the 
ESPLOST fund in the amount of $42,547,752.  Construction contracts include 
new school construction and expansion or renovation of existing facilities.  These 
commitments are included in the ESPLOST fund reserve for encumbrances at 
June 30, 2010. 

D. Risk Management 

The district is exposed to various risks of loss for claims associated with torts, 
theft of, damage to and destruction of assets, errors and omissions, injuries to 
employees, natural disasters, and unemployment compensation.  

There were no significant reductions in insurance coverage from coverage in the 
prior year.  Settled claims have not exceeded the commercial excess coverage in 
any of the past three fiscal years. 

Self Insurance

The district is self-insured for the risks associated with unemployment 
compensation and workers compensation.  The district has established a  
separate fund for accounting for workers compensation risk financing.   A 
contribution to the fund is calculated on the basis of .77% of each salary dollar.   
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Liabilities of this fund are reported when it is probable a loss has occurred and 
the amounts can be reasonably estimated including amounts for claims incurred 
but not yet reported (IBNRs).  The result of the process to estimate the claims  
liability is not an exact amount as it depends on many complex factors, such as 
inflation, changes in legal doctrines, and damage awards.  Accordingly, claims 
are reevaluated periodically to consider the effects of inflation, recent claim 
settlement trends (including frequency and amount of pay-outs), and other 
economic and social factors.  The estimate of the claims liability also includes 
amounts for incremental claim adjustment expenses related to specific claims 
and other claim adjustment expenses regardless of whether allocated to specific 
claims.  Estimated recoveries, for example from salvage or subrogation, are  
another component of the claims liability estimate.  An excess coverage 
insurance policy covers individual claims up to statutory limits. 

The district also self-insures unemployment claims.  These liabilities were 
immaterial at June 30, 2010. 

Changes in the balances of claims liabilities for the workers’ compensation fund 
during fiscal years 2008, 2009, and 2010 were as follows: 

Claims and 
Beginning of Changes in Balance at 
Fiscal Year Current Year Claim Fiscal 

Fiscal Year Liability Liability Payments Year End

2008 425,076$       1,719,723$    840,658$       1,304,141$    
2009 1,304,141      581,364         777,915         1,107,590      
2010 1,107,590      1,130,908      1,239,592      998,906         

The fiscal year-end liability is calculated by a third party administrator considering 
the effects of inflation and recent claim settlement trends including frequency and 
amount of pay-outs as previously described. 

Risk Pool

The district has elected to be a member of the Georgia School Boards 
Association Risk Management Fund (GSBA-RMF), an interlocal risk 
management agency created under Georgia law.  Coverage for losses arising 
from certain liability and property risks to the district is provided through a group 
self-insurance plan.  For accounting purposes, this plan is considered to be a 
Risk Transfer Pool.  Under this plan, the district is responsible for the first 
$25,000 of each property loss, the first $1,000 of auto physical damage loss, and 
for the first $10,000 of each school leader’s liability claim.  The plan assumes  



THE BOARD OF EDUCATION FOR 
THE CITY OF SAVANNAH AND THE COUNTY  
OF CHATHAM, GEORGIA 

NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2010 

D-35

certain risks of the district in excess of the stated retentions up to certain 
customary coverage limits.  The district is required to make a financial  
contribution to the plan each year in an amount that is determined on the basis of 
actuarial projections of losses. 

Management of GSBA-RMF has informed the district had maximum outstanding 
liability of $40,000 within the loss retentions stated in the preceding paragraph. 

Management of GSBA-RMF has also informed the district that there is a 
possibility of additional contribution liability in the event that the plan is terminated 
or the district elects to withdraw prematurely.  No amount has been recorded in 
the financial statements due to the belief that plan termination is unlikely and 
withdrawal by the district is not contemplated. 

Changes in the balances of claims liabilities for the risk pool fund during fiscal 
years 2008, 2009 and 2010 were as follows: 

Claims and 
Beginning of Changes in Balance at 
Fiscal Year Currect Year Claim Fiscal 

Fiscal Year Liability Liability Payments Year End

2008 50,000$         -$               39,000$         11,000$         
2009 11,000           145,000         -                 156,000         
2010 156,000         (108,398)        7,602             40,000           

Risk Transfer

The district transfers the risk from all other risks through the use of commercially 
purchased insurance. 
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E. On-Behalf Payments 

The district has recognized revenues and expenditures in the amount of 
$509,549 for health insurance and retirement contributions paid on the district’s 
behalf by the following State Agencies. 

Georgia Department of Education
  Paid to Georgia Department of Community Health
    for Health Insurance of Non-certif ied Personnel 364,591$          

  Paid to the Teachers Retirement System of Georgia (TRS)
    for the TRS Employer's Cost 71,368$            

Office of Treasury and Fiscal Services
  Paid to the Public School Employees Retirement System (ERS)
    For the ERS Employer's Cost 73,590$            

509,549$          

F. Subsequent Event 

On September 15, 2010, the district entered into a capital lease in the aggregate 
principal amount of $7,300,000.  The proceeds will be used to purchase 
equipment as part of the district’s Energy Management Project.  Principal and 
interest payments will be made over the period from 2011 through 2020. 

`





VARIANCE
ACTUAL OVER

ORIGINAL FINAL AMOUNTS (UNDER)
REVENUES

Property taxes 159,066,576$     156,981,576$      158,369,324$      1,387,748$        
State funds 121,569,427 101,767,543 101,809,113 41,570               
Federal funds 1,116,685 14,101,859 14,327,604 225,745             
Other local funds 2,592,400 2,092,400 1,667,056 (425,344)            

Total revenues 284,345,088       274,943,378        276,173,097        1,229,719          

EXPENDITURES
Current:

Instruction 180,804,951 174,006,515 178,625,153 4,618,638          
Pupil services 14,556,481 14,041,048 13,809,936 (231,112)            
Instructional services 4,422,684 4,152,657 3,493,273 (659,384)            
Educational media services 5,412,004 5,397,609 5,354,636 (42,973)              
General administration 5,129,666 5,185,287 4,556,127 (629,160)            
School administration 20,144,045 19,481,196 18,755,683 (725,513)            
Business administration 4,157,278 4,666,458 4,365,731 (300,727)            
Maintenance and operations 25,351,628 24,835,628 23,606,350 (1,229,278)         
Pupil transportation 16,184,372 16,170,431 16,411,272 240,841             
Central support services 6,411,793 4,833,249 3,130,420 (1,702,829)         
Other support services 7,385 1,305 2,160 855                    

Debt service: 
Interest and other charges 19 602 19 602

BUDGETED AMOUNTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2010

THE BOARD OF EDUCATION FOR THE CITY OF SAVANNAH

GENERAL FUND 
BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE
AND THE COUNTY OF CHATHAM, GEORGIA 

See Independent Auditors' Report. E - 2

Interest and other charges 19,602 19,602
Capital outlay 2,471,638 2,129,295 2,048,542 (80,753)              

Total expenditures 285,053,925       274,900,678        274,178,885        (721,793)            

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over
(under) expenditures (708,837)             42,700                 1,994,212            1,951,512          

OTHER FINANCING USES
Transfers in 5,000,000 5,000,000 5,000,000 0
Transfers out (7,684,054)          (5,685,071)           (5,685,071)          0
Sale of assets 1,250,000 0 0 0

Total other financing uses (1,434,054)          (685,071)              (685,071)             0

Net change in fund balances (2,142,891) (642,371) 1,309,141            1,951,512          

Fund balances, beginning 26,761,491         26,761,491          26,761,491 0

Fund balances, ending 24,618,600$       26,119,120$        28,070,632$        1,951,512$        

See Independent Auditors' Report. E - 2
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BUDGETARY INFORMATION 

I.  Budgets and Budgetary Accounting 

  Annual budgets are adopted on a basis consistent with generally accepted 
accounting principles. Formal budgetary integration is employed as a management 
control device during the year for the General Fund.  The level of legal budgetary 
control (the level at which expenditures may not exceed appropriations) is at the fund 
level.

  Supplemental appropriations and decreases in budget appropriations were properly 
approved by the School District.  For the year ended June 30, 2010, the following 
supplemental and decrease in appropriations were approved. 

      

Fund Type
Original

Appropriations
Supplemental
Appropriations

Supplemental
Decreases

Final
Appropriations

     General Fund   $292,737,979       $171,463     $12,323,693   $280,585,749 
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SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS: 

Description 

Special revenue funds are used to account for revenues received from other governmental 
agencies or locally generated revenues that are legally restricted to expenditures for specified 
purposes.  The following funds are included in the special revenue funds category: 

High School Athletics Consistent with the philosophy of financial independence of the 
district athletic programs, this fund was established to provide 
accounting for the high school athletic programs of the district. 

Middle School Athletics Consistent with the philosophy of financial independence of the 
district athletic programs, this fund was established to provide 
accounting for the middle school athletic programs of the district. 

Special Programs This fund was established to provide accounting for certain special 
programs that are funded for distinct program objectives. 

Psychological Education This fund was established to provide accounting of federal 
categorical grants flowing through the Department of Education, 
State of Georgia for the purpose of providing specialized educational 
treatment for emotionally disturbed students. 

Title I This fund was established to provide accounting of federal 
categorical grant funds flowing through the Department of Education, 
State of Georgia, for the propose of providing remedial education in 
the areas of reading and math. 

Title VIB This fund was established to provide accounting of federal 
categorical grant funds flowing through the Department of Education, 
State of Georgia, for the purpose of providing special education 
programs for handicapped students. 

School Food Service This fund was established to provide accounting of the district’s 
School Food Service operations. 

OTHER CAPITAL PROJECTS FUNDS are used to account for financial resources to be used for 
the acquisition for construction of major capital facilities. 

DEBT SERVICE FUND is used to account for resources accumulated for the payment of long-
term debt principle and interest. 

NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS



High School Middle School Special Psychological
Athletics Athletics Programs Education Title I

ASSETS

Cash and investments 9,371$           161,207$       1,830,071$    11,338$           0$                     
Receivables 0 0 2,072,083 409,265 3,373,576
Inventories 0 0 0 0 0
Other current assets 0 0 70,354 0 48,637
Restricted cash and investments 0 0 0 0 0
Note receivable 0 0 0 0 0

Total assets 9,371$           161,207$       3,972,508$    420,603$         3,422,213$       

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and contracts payable 7,764$           5,601$           400,201$       618$                235,626$          
Salaries and benefits payable 56 0 1,802,998 397,917 2,503,820
Due to other funds 0 0 0 0 436,831
Deferred revenue 0 0 11,829 0 0
Payable from restricted assets- 

Accounts payable and contracts payable 0 0 0 0 0
Total liabilities 7,820             5,601             2,215,028      398,535           3,176,277         

FUND BALANCES
Reserved for: 

Inventories 0 0 0 0 0
Debt service 0 0 0 0 0

Total reserved fund balances 0 0 0 0 0
Unreserved:

Designated for:

Special Revenue Funds

NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

THE BOARD OF EDUCATION FOR THE CITY OF SAVANNAH

COMBINING BALANCE SHEET 
JUNE 30, 2010 

AND THE COUNTY OF CHATHAM, GEORGIA

See Independent Auditors' Report. F - 2 

Designated for:
Next fiscal year 0 0 431,508 0 0

Undesignated, reported in:
Special revenue 1,551 155,606 1,325,972 22,068 245,936
Capital projects 0 0 0 0 0

Total unreserved fund balances 1,551 155,606         1,757,480      22,068             245,936            

Total fund balances 1,551             155,606         1,757,480      22,068             245,936            

Total liabilities and fund balances 9,371$           161,207$       3,972,508$    420,603$         3,422,213$       

See Independent Auditors' Report. F - 2 



School Food Other Capital
Title VIB Service Project Funds Debt Service Total 

207,430$          1,423,115$       0$                     2,194,154$       5,836,686$       
1,473,883 571,103 0 11,105 7,911,015

0 230,819 0 0 230,819
0 0 0 0 118,991
0 0 2,725,405 0 2,725,405
0 0 3,000,000 0 3,000,000

1,681,313$       2,225,037$       5,725,405$       2,205,259$       19,822,916$     

2,934$              202,725$          0$                     0$                     855,469$          
1,609,179 952,868 0 0 7,266,838

0 0 0 0 436,831
0 80,004 3,000,000 9,543 3,101,376

0 0 77,096 0 77,096
1,612,113         1,235,597         3,077,096         9,543                11,737,610       

0 150,815 0 0 150,815
0 0 0 2,195,716 2,195,716
0 150,815 0 2,195,716 2,346,531

See Independent Auditors' Report. F - 3 

0 0 0 0 431,508

69,200 838,625 0 0 2,658,958
0 0 2,648,309 0 2,648,309

69,200              838,625            2,648,309         0 5,738,775

69,200              989,440            2,648,309         2,195,716         8,085,306         

1,681,313$       2,225,037$       5,725,405$       2,205,259$       19,822,916$     

See Independent Auditors' Report. F - 3 



CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

High School Middle School Special Psychological
Athletics Athletics Programs Education Title I

REVENUES
Property taxes 0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  
State sources 0 0 6,628,198 2,753,464 0
Federal sources 0 0 7,653,211 314,330 18,430,952
Charges for services 210,092 19,878 346,933 0 0
Local and other funds 0 395 244,901 0 0

Total revenues 210,092        20,273          14,873,243   3,067,794     18,430,952   

EXPENDITURES
Current:

Instruction 0 0 9,105,023 1,966,018 11,437,162
Pupil services 623,355 140,536 998,883 697,955 810,813
Instructional services 0 0 3,280,067 349,561 4,239,565
Educational media services 0 0 8,538 0 0
General administration 0 0 405,385 27,412 808,531
School administration 0 0 151,444 0 0
Business administration 0 0 0 0 0
Maintenance and operations 0 0 246,270 8,886 0
Pupil transporation 0 0 86,198 88 3,624
Central support services 0 0 4,310 0 0
Other support services 0 0 629,209 0 314,156
Food service operations 0 0 22,326 0 0

Debt Service:
Principal 0 0 0 0 0
Interest and other charges 0 0 0 0 0

Capital Outlay 31,406 16,179 1,238,090 17,874 817,101

Total expenditures 654,761        156,715        16,175,743   3,067,794     18,430,952   

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over 
(under) expenditures (444,669) (136,442) (1,302,500)  0 0

THE BOARD OF EDUCATION FOR THE CITY OF SAVANNAH
AND THE COUNTY OF CHATHAM, GEORGIA
NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

Special Revenue Funds

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2010

See Independent Auditors' Report. F - 4 

(under) expenditures (444,669) (136,442) (1,302,500) 0 0

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in 409,400 131,550 1,280,250 0 0
Transfers out 0 0 0 0 0
Collections on installment sale of land 0 0 0 0 0

Total other financing sources 409,400        131,550        1,280,250     0 0

Net change in fund balances (35,269)         (4,892)           (22,250)         0 0

Fund balances, beginning 36,820 160,498 1,779,730 22,068 245,936

Fund balances, ending 1,551$          155,606$      1,757,480$   22,068$        245,936$      

See Independent Auditors' Report. F - 4 



School Food Other Capital
Title VIB Service Project Funds Debt Service Total 

0$                  0$                  0$                  11,047$        11,047$        
0 495,140 0 0 9,876,802

9,774,209 12,537,777 0 0 48,710,479
0 2,398,802 0 0 2,975,705
0 54,578 13,657 113 313,644

9,774,209     15,486,297   13,657          11,160          61,887,677   

8,259,966 0 0 0 30,768,169
1,083,551 0 0 0 4,355,093

158,731 0 0 0 8,027,924
0 0 0 0 8,538

115,369 0 0 0 1,356,697
0 0 0 0 151,444
0 0 0 0 0
0 0 206,755 0 461,911
0 0 0 0 89,910
0 0 0 0 4,310
0 0 0 0 943,365
0 15,230,546 0 0 15,252,872

0 0 0 14,145,782 14,145,782
0 0 0 4,244,010 4,244,010

156,592 234,716 149,198 0 2,661,156

9,774,209     15,465,262   355,953        18,389,792   82,471,181   

0 21,035          (342,296)       (18,378,632) (20,583,504)

See Independent Auditors' Report. F - 5 

0 21,035          (342,296)       (18,378,632) (20,583,504)

0 0 0 18,572,872 20,394,072   
0 0 (5,000,000)    0 (5,000,000)    
0 0 476,250 0 476,250

0 0 (4,523,750)    18,572,872   15,870,322   

0 21,035          (4,866,046)    194,240        (4,713,182)    

69,200 968,405 7,514,355 2,001,476 12,798,488

69,200$        989,440$      2,648,309$   2,195,716$   8,085,306$   

See Independent Auditors' Report. F - 5 



VARIANCE
ACTUAL OVER

ORIGINAL FINAL AMOUNTS (UNDER)
REVENUES

Charges for services 276,900$           276,900$            210,092$            (66,808)$           
Total revenues 276,900             276,900              210,092              (66,808)             

EXPENDITURES
Current:

Pupil services 672,300 672,300 623,355 (48,945)             
Capital outlay 14,000 14,000 31,406 17,406              

Total expenditures 686,300             686,300              654,761              (31,539)             

Deficiency of revenues under expenditures (409,400)            (409,400)             (444,669)            (35,269)             

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in 409,400 409,400 409,400              0

Total other financing sources (uses) 409,400             409,400              409,400 0

Net change in fund balances 0 0 (35,269)              (35,269)             

Fund balances, beginning 36,820               36,820                36,820 0

Fund balances, ending 36,820$             36,820$              1,551$                (35,269)$           

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2010

BUDGETED AMOUNTS

THE BOARD OF EDUCATION FOR THE CITY OF SAVANNAH

SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS- HIGH SCHOOL ATHLETICS 
BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE
AND THE COUNTY OF CHATHAM, GEORGIA 

See Independent Auditors' Report. F - 6 See Independent Auditors' Report. F - 6 



VARIANCE
ACTUAL OVER

ORIGINAL FINAL AMOUNTS (UNDER)
REVENUES

Charges for services 26,400$             26,400$              19,878$              (6,522)$             
Other 0 0 395 395                   

Total revenues 26,400               26,400                20,273                (6,127)               

EXPENDITURES
Current:

Pupil services 149,950 149,950 140,536 (9,414)               
Capital outlay 8,000 8,000 16,179 8,179                

Total expenditures 157,950             157,950              156,715              (1,235)               

Excess (deficiency) of revenues 
over (under) expenditures (131,550)            (131,550)             (136,442)            (4,892)               

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in 131,550 131,550 131,550 0

Total other financing sources (uses) 131,550             131,550              131,550              0

Net change in fund balances 0 0 (4,892)                (4,892)               

Fund balances, beginning 160,498             160,498              160,498 0

Fund balances, ending 160,498$           160,498$            155,606$            (4,892)$             

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2010

BUDGETED AMOUNTS

THE BOARD OF EDUCATION FOR THE CITY OF SAVANNAH

SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS- MIDDLE SCHOOL ATHLETICS 
BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE
AND THE COUNTY OF CHATHAM, GEORGIA 

See Independent Auditors' Report. F - 7 



VARIANCE
ACTUAL OVER

ORIGINAL FINAL AMOUNTS (UNDER)
REVENUES

State sources 7,090,032$        7,123,713$         6,628,198$         (495,515)$         
Federal sources 8,145,181 10,289,010 7,653,211 (2,635,799)        
Charges for services 394,358 736,211 346,933 (389,278)           
Other 302,879 462,875 244,901 (217,974)           

Total revenues 15,932,450        18,611,809         14,873,243         (3,738,566)        

EXPENDITURES
Current:

Instruction 10,768,270 11,147,767 9,105,023 (2,042,744)        
Pupil services 983,740 992,179 998,883 6,704                
Instructional services 3,953,365 4,516,322 3,280,067 (1,236,255)        
Educational media services 0 9,545 8,538 (1,007)               
General administration 635,866 621,447 405,385 (216,062)           
School administration 96,911 109,689 151,444 41,755              
Business administration 64,538 60,403 0 (60,403)             
Maintenance and operations 176,664 246,463 246,270 (193)                  
Pupil transportation 28,968 118,150 86,198 (31,952)             
Central support services 9,423 8,725 4,310 (4,415)               
Other support services 37,350 344,214 629,209 284,995            
Food service operations 2,691 25,086 22,326 (2,760)               

Capital outlay 383,146 1,821,542 1,238,090 (583,452)           
Total expenditures 17,140,932       20,021,532       16,175,743 (3,845,789)        

BUDGETED AMOUNTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2010

THE BOARD OF EDUCATION FOR THE CITY OF SAVANNAH

SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS- SPECIAL PROGRAMS
BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE
AND THE COUNTY OF CHATHAM, GEORGIA 

See Independent Auditors' Report. F - 8 

p , , , , , , ( , , )

Deficiency of revenues under expenditures (1,208,482)         (1,409,723)          (1,302,500)         107,223            

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in 1,280,250 1,280,250 1,280,250 0

Total other financing sources (uses) 1,280,250          1,280,250           1,280,250           0

Net change in fund balances 71,768 - (129,473) (22,250)              107,223            

Fund balances, beginning 1,779,730          1,779,730           1,779,730 0

Fund balances, ending 1,851,498$        1,650,257$         1,757,480$         107,223$          

See Independent Auditors' Report. F - 8 



VARIANCE
ACTUAL OVER

ORIGINAL FINAL AMOUNTS (UNDER)
REVENUES

State sources 3,184,781$         2,753,464$          2,753,464$         0$
Federal sources 295,237 509,389 314,330 (195,059)

Total revenues 3,480,018           3,262,853            3,067,794           (195,059)

EXPENDITURES
Current:

Instruction 2,050,754 2,141,792 1,966,018 (175,774)
Pupil services 737,802 721,687 697,955 (23,732)
Instructional services 354,701 349,895 349,561 (334)
General administration 26,466 27,262 27,412 150
Business administration 298,477 0 0 0
Maintenance and operations 0 10,399 8,886 (1,513)
Pupil transportation 500 500 88 (412)

Capital outlay 11,318 11,318 17,874 6,556
Total expenditures 3,480,018           3,262,853            3,067,794           (195,059)

Net change in fund balances 0 0 0 0

Fund balances, beginning 22,068                22,068                 22,068 0

Fund balances, ending 22,068$              22,068$               22,068$              0$

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2010

BUDGETED AMOUNTS

THE BOARD OF EDUCATION FOR THE CITY OF SAVANNAH

SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS- PSYCHOLOGICAL EDUCATION 
BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE
AND THE COUNTY OF CHATHAM, GEORGIA 

See Independent Auditors' Report. F - 9 



VARIANCE
ACTUAL OVER

ORIGINAL FINAL AMOUNTS (UNDER)
REVENUES

Federal sources 26,562,000$       28,061,532$        18,430,952$       (9,630,580)$
Total revenues 26,562,000         28,061,532          18,430,952         (9,630,580)

EXPENDITURES
Current:

Instruction 17,320,578 20,176,771 11,437,162 (8,739,609)
Pupil services 0 0 810,813 810,813
Instructional services 7,755,975 5,546,898 4,239,565 (1,307,333)
General administration 862,080 975,359 808,531 (166,828)
Pupil transportation 113,410 303,624 3,624 (300,000)
Other support services 460,237 488,190 314,156 (174,034)

Capital outlay 49,720 570,690 817,101 246,411
Total expenditures 26,562,000         28,061,532          18,430,952         (9,630,580)

Net change in fund balances 0 0 0 0

Fund balances, beginning 245,936              245,936               245,936 0

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2010

THE BOARD OF EDUCATION FOR THE CITY OF SAVANNAH

SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS- TITLE I
BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE
AND THE COUNTY OF CHATHAM, GEORGIA 

BUDGETED AMOUNTS

See Independent Auditors' Report. F - 10 

Fund balances, ending 245,936$            245,936$             245,936$            -$

See Independent Auditors' Report. F - 10 



VARIANCE
ACTUAL OVER

ORIGINAL FINAL AMOUNTS (UNDER)
REVENUES

Federal sources 14,628,432$       15,074,895$        9,774,209$         (5,300,686)$       
Total revenues 14,628,432         15,074,895          9,774,209            (5,300,686)         

EXPENDITURES
Current:

Instruction 11,775,720 12,760,741 8,259,966 (4,500,775)         
Pupil services 1,255,805 1,221,154 1,083,551 (137,603)            
Instructional services 597,206 605,254 158,731 (446,523)            
General administration 516,240 214,473 115,369 (99,104)              
School administration 9,688 0 0 0
Maintenance and operations 200,000 0 0 0
Pupil transportation 500 0 0 0

Capital outlay 273,273 273,273 156,592 (116,681)            
Total expenditures 14,628,432         15,074,895          9,774,209            (5,300,686)         

Net change in fund balances 0 0 0 0

Fund balances, beginning 69,200                69,200                 69,200 0

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2010

BUDGETED AMOUNTS

THE BOARD OF EDUCATION FOR THE CITY OF SAVANNAH

SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS- TITLE VI B
BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE
AND THE COUNTY OF CHATHAM, GEORGIA 

See Independent Auditors' Report. F - 11 

Fund balances, ending 69,200$              69,200$               69,200$               0$                      

See Independent Auditors' Report. F - 11 



VARIANCE
ACTUAL OVER

ORIGINAL FINAL AMOUNTS (UNDER)
REVENUES

State sources 886,416$            581,527$             495,140$             (86,387)$            
Federal sources 10,188,577 11,729,653 12,537,777 808,124             
Charges for services 2,324,776 3,059,283 2,398,802 (660,481)            
Other 30,001 116,717 54,578 (62,139)              

Total revenues 13,429,770         15,487,180          15,486,297         (883)                   

EXPENDITURES
Current:

Food service operations 13,339,770 15,404,021 15,230,546 (173,475)            
Capital outlay 90,000 83,159 234,716 151,557             

Total expenditures 13,429,770         15,487,180          15,465,262         (21,918)              

Net change in fund balances 0 0 21,035                 21,035               

Fund balances, beginning 968,405              968,405               968,405 0

Fund balances, ending 968,405$            968,405$             989,440$             21,035$             

BUDGETED AMOUNTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2010

THE BOARD OF EDUCATION FOR THE CITY OF SAVANNAH

SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS- SCHOOL FOOD SERVICE
BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE
AND THE COUNTY OF CHATHAM, GEORGIA 

See Independent Auditors' Report. F - 12 See Independent Auditors' Report. F - 12 



VARIANCE
ACTUAL OVER

ORIGINAL FINAL AMOUNTS (UNDER)
REVENUES

Property taxes 0$                       0$                        11,047$              11,047$             
Other 2,000 2,000 113 (1,887)               

Total revenues 2,000                  2,000                   11,160                9,160                 

EXPENDITURES
Debt services:

Principal retirements 14,145,782 14,145,782 14,145,782 0
Interest and fiscal charges 4,429,090 4,429,090 4,244,010 (185,080)            
Total expenditures 18,574,872         18,574,872          18,389,792         (185,080)            

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures (18,572,872)        (18,572,872)         (18,378,632)        194,240             

OTHER FINANCING USES
Transfers in 18,572,872 18,572,872 18,572,872 0

Total other financing uses 18,572,872         18,572,872          18,572,872         0

Net change in fund balances 0 0 194,240              194,240             

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2010

BUDGETED AMOUNTS

THE BOARD OF EDUCATION FOR THE CITY OF SAVANNAH

DEBT SERVICE
BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE
AND THE COUNTY OF CHATHAM, GEORGIA 

See Independent Auditors' Report. F - 13 

Fund balances, beginning 2,001,476           2,001,476            2,001,476 0

Fund balances, ending 2,001,476$         2,001,476$          2,195,716$         194,240$           

See Independent Auditors' Report. F - 13 





F-14

Description

Internal service funds are used to account for services furnished by a designated 
department to other departments within the district.  Amounts expended by the fund are 
restored to it either from operating earnings or by transfers from other funds, so that the 
original fund activity is kept intact.  The following funds are included in the internal 
service funds category: 

Workers’ Compensation Fund This fund was established to provide accounting 
for the self-insured workers’ compensation claims 
activity of the Board of Education. 

Employee Dental Plan Fund This fund was established to provide accounting 
for the Self-supporting direct reimbursement 
dental plan for employees. 

Unemployment Compensation Fund This fund was established to provide accounting 
for the self-insured unemployment compensation 
claims activity of the Board of Education. 

INTERNAL SERVICE FUNDS



Workers' Employee Unemployment 
Compensation Dental Plan Compensation Total 

ASSETS

Current assets: 
Cash and cash equivalents 1,344,807$       332,855$          169,718$          1,847,380$

Total assets 1,344,807$       332,855$          169,718$          1,847,380$

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable 74,985$            718$                 44,945$            120,648$          
Other liabilities 1,000,710 0 0 1,000,710

Total liabilities 1,075,695         718                   44,945              1,121,358         

NET ASSETS 
Unrestricted 269,112 332,137 124,773 726,022            

Total net assets 269,112$          332,137$          124,773$          726,022$          

THE BOARD OF EDUCATION FOR THE CITY OF SAVANNAH
AND THE COUNTY OF CHATHAM, GEORGIA
COMBINING STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS
INTERNAL SERVICE FUNDS
JUNE 30, 2010 

See Independent Auditors' Report. F - 15 See Independent Auditors' Report. F - 15 



Workers' Employee Unemployment
Compensation Dental Plan Compensation Total 

OPERATING REVENUES
Risk management fees 1,530,769$      1,284,856$ 134,322$          2,949,947$   

Total operating revenues 1,530,769 1,284,856 134,322 2,949,947

OPERATING EXPENSES 
Risk management 1,487,345 1,241,292 95,475 2,824,112

Total operating expenses 1,487,345 1,241,292 95,475 2,824,112
Operating income (loss) 43,424 43,564 38,847 125,835

NON-OPERATING REVENUES 
Interest and investment revenue 2,426 0 162 2,588

Change in net assets 45,850             43,564        39,009              128,423        

Total net assets, beginning 223,262 288,573 85,764 597,599
Total net assets, ending 269,112$         332,137$    124,773$          726,022$      

THE BOARD OF EDUCATION FOR THE CITY OF SAVANNAH
AND THE COUNTY OF CHATHAM, GEORGIA
COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN FUND NET ASSETS
INTERNAL SERVICE FUNDS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2010

See Independent Auditors' Report. F - 16 See Independent Auditors' Report. F - 16 



Workers' Employee Unemployment
Compensation Dental Plan Compensation Total 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash received for services and fees 1,530,769$      1,284,856$ 134,322$            2,949,947$
Cash paid for supplies and insurance (1,627,555) (1,246,931) (84,956) (2,959,442)

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities (96,786) 37,925 49,366 (9,495)

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
Investment income 2,426 0 162 2,588

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 2,426 0 162 2,588

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (94,360) 37,925 49,528 (6,907)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 1,439,167 294,930 120,190 1,854,287
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 1,344,807$      332,855$    169,718$            1,847,380$

THE BOARD OF EDUCATION FOR THE CITY OF SAVANNAH
AND THE COUNTY OF CHATHAM, GEORGIA
COMBINING STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
INTERNAL SERVICE FUNDS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2010

See Independent Auditors' Report. F - 17 See Independent Auditors' Report. F - 17 



F-18

Description

Agency funds are used to account for assets held by the Board of Education on behalf of 
outside parties, or on behalf of other funds within the Board.  The following funds are 
included in the agency funds category: 

Flex One Fund This fund was established to provide accounting for funds 
withheld from employees that are used to pay for dependent 
care under Section 125 of the IRS code. 

Student Activity Fund This fund was established to provide accounting for student 
activity fund receipts and disbursements.

FIDUCIARY FUNDS



Student Activity 
Flex One Fund Funds Total 

ASSETS
Cash and investments (142)$            1,043,080$   1,042,938$

Total assets (142)$            1,043,080$   1,042,938$

LIABILITIES
Due to student groups 0$                 1,043,080$   1,043,080$
Other liabilities (142) 0 (142)

Total liabilities (142)$            1,043,080$   1,042,938$

JUNE 30, 2010

FIDUCIARY FUNDS (AGENCY FUNDS)
COMBINING STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 

THE BOARD OF EDUCATION FOR THE CITY OF SAVANNAH
AND THE COUNTY OF CHATHAM, GEORGIA

See Independent Auditors' Report. F - 19



Balance Balance
July 1, 2009 Increases Decreases June 30, 2010

FLEX ONE FUND

ASSETS
Cash and investments (2,817)$         340,174$      337,499$      (142)$              

Total assets (2,817)$         340,174$      337,499$      (142)$              

LIABILITIES
Other liabilities (2,817)$         340,174$      337,499$      (142)$              

Total liabilities (2,817)$         340,174$      337,499$      (142)$              

STUDENT ACTIVITY FUNDS

ASSETS
Cash and investments 1,076,728$   3,118,133$   3,151,781$   1,043,080$

Total assets 1,076,728$   3,118,133$   3,151,781$   1,043,080$

LIABILITIES
Due to student groups 1,076,728$   3,118,133$   3,151,781$   1,043,080$

Total liabilities 1,076,728$   3,118,133$   3,151,781$   1,043,080$

TOTAL

ASSETS
Cash and investments 1,073,911$   3,458,307$   3,489,280$   1,042,938$

Total assets 1,073,911$   3,458,307$   3,489,280$   1,042,938$

LIABILITIES
Due to student groups 1,076,728$   3,118,133$   3,151,781$   1,043,080$
Other liabilities (2,817) 340,174 337,499 (142)

Total liabilities 1,073,911$   3,458,307$   3,489,280$   1,042,938$

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2010

AGENCY FUNDS
COMBINING STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

AND THE COUNTY OF CHATHAM, GEORGIA
THE BOARD OF EDUCATION FOR THE CITY OF SAVANNAH

See Independent Auditors' Report. F - 20





F-21

Description

The Schedule of Allotments and Expenditures by Programs are presented to 
demonstrate compliance with the Quality Basic Education Act as required by the State of 
Georgia, Department of Education. 

The Schedule of Approved Local Option Sales Tax Projects is presented to demonstrate 
legal compliance of Sales Tax imposed for Educational Purposes. 

SUPPLEMENTAL SCHEDULES



THE BOARD OF EDUCATION FOR THE CITY OF SAVANNAH
AND THE COUNTY OF CHATHAM, GEORGIA

SCHEDULE OF ALLOTMENTS AND EXPENDITURES – BY PROGRAM
GENERAL FUND – QUALITY BASIC EDUCATION PROGRAMS

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2010

Allotments
 From

Department
of Education 

Amount Salaries Operations Total
General and Career Education Programs
  Kindergarten $ 14,491,101 $ 13,325,859 $ 121,201 $ 13,447,061
  Kindergarten EIP 1,623,084 1,702,873 8,400 1,711,273
  Grades 1-3 29,708,235 32,412,782 1,094,839 33,507,621
  Grades 1-3 EIP 2,824,459 3,038,226 17,849 3,056,074
       Sub-total K-3 48,646,879 50,479,740 1,242,289 51,722,029

  Grades 4-5 13,066,315 13,143,944 134,731 13,278,675
  Grades 4-5 EIP 2,223,722 2,424,416 10,303 2,434,719
  Middle Grade 6-8 691,209 892,095 42,305 934,399
  Middle School 6-8 19,800,998 18,833,000 602,617 19,435,617
  Grades 9-12 17,354,038 18,565,969 1,208,772 19,774,740
  Vocational Education Laboratories 4,811,364 4,795,973 405,338 5,201,311
    Total General and Career Education Programs 106,594,525 109,135,136 3,646,354 112,781,491

Special Education Programs  
  Category I 6,857,462 6,526,578 110,638 6,637,215
  Category II 2,115,118 2,013,060 34,125 2,047,185
  Category III 15,825,243 15,061,648 255,323 15,316,971
  Category IV 3,346,208 3,184,748 53,987 3,238,735
  Category V 1,888,761 1,797,624 30,474 1,828,098
  Gifted Education 12,854,760 12,640,011 187,884 12,827,896
  Special Ed. Itinerant 13,028 -                   -                   -                   
  Special Ed. Supplemental Speech 24,480 -                 -                  -
    Total Special Education Programs 42,925,060 41,223,668 672,431 41,896,100

English for Speakers of Other Languages 793,549 950,821 1,145 951,966

Remedial Education Programs 3,179,898 2,105,182 8,200 2,113,382

Alternative Education Programs 1,581,093 1,898,352 58,473 1,956,826

Media Center Programs 4,236,696 4,830,150 511,592 5,341,741

Staff Development Programs 827,903 -                 -                  543,478

Nurses 512,423 1,593,272 -                  1,593,272

Principal Supplement 0 0 -                  0

20 Days Additional Instruction 1,210,661 752,617 1,215 753,832

      Grand Total $ 161,861,808 $ 162,489,198 $ 4,899,411 $ 167,932,087

Note:   The "Amended Formula Adjustment" reduction of $23,690,082 and ARRA funding of $10,924,105 are not
           reflected in the above information.

Direct Instructional Expenditures
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THE BOARD OF EDUCATION FOR THE CITY OF SAVANNAH
AND THE COUNTY OF CHATHAM, GEORGIA

SCHEDULE OF APPROVED LOCAL OPTION SALES TAX PROJECTS

Amount Amount
Original Current Expended Expended

Estimated Estimated in Current in Prior Project
Project Cost Cost Year Years Status

For the purpose of acquiring, constructing,
and equipping new facilities for:
Beach HS, Butler ES, Gadsden ES,
Godley Station K8, a new High School,
Oglethorpe Charter, & Pulaski ES 195,768,543    183,368,543    26,661,330      5,295,695        Active

For the purpose of constructing
additions and other modifications to:
Heard ES, Hesse ES, Howard ES,
Isle of Hope ES, Largo-Tibet ES, Low ES,
Mercer MS, Savannah HS, White Bluff ES, 
Windsor Forest ES, Windsor Forest HS 18,380,418      17,193,304      1,058,094        523,265           Active

For the conversion of Tompkins MS
to a Technical Career HS 4,250,000        3,574,812        -                  3,407,679        Completed

Oatland Island renovations and upgrades 5,196,488        5,196,488        2,934,484        469,826           Active

Massie Heritage Ctr renovations and upgrades 441,025           841,025           390,536           75,419             Active

Existing site upgrades district-wide for:
ADA Requirements, Classroom Furniture,
Electrical, Flooring, Food Service Equipment,
HVAC, Painting, Plumbing, Roofing, Security,
Safety & Fencing, Local School Requests,
Signage, and Energy Savings 41,346,860      27,151,459      3,038,580        2,914,657        Active

Payment of principal and interest on the
school district's general obligation bonds 67,372,185      67,372,185      14,709,001      28,842,875      Active

Academic technology upgrade - district-wide 30,000,000      16,000,000      4,803,896        6,140,402        Active

Program management 6,000,000        6,000,000        1,101,230        2,246,349        Active

368,755,519$ 326,697,816$ 54,697,151$   49,916,167$

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2010
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